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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF CONNECTICUT

JUAN OCAMPOQ,
Plaintiff,

No. 3:19¢v-00436(SRU)

V.

COUNTRYWIDE HOME LOANS, INC,
et al.,
Defendans.

RULING ON DEFENDANTS' MOTION STO DISMISS

Juan Ocamp@Ocampo”), proeedingpro se broughtthis action agains€ountrywide
Home Loans, Inc., Bayview Loan Servicing, LLC, Bank of New York Mellon, Mortgage
Electronic Registration Systemac., American Home Mortgage, Nationstar Mortgage, LLC,
U.S. Bank National Association, “John Does 1 through 100,” dadée Roe4& through 100"
(collectively, “Defendants”).Defendants Countrywide Home Loans, Imdqgrtgage Electronic
Registration Systems, IndNationstar Mortgage, U.S. Bank National Association, Bayview Loan
Servicing LLC, and Bank of New York Mellqeollectively, ‘the Moving Defendants”have
moved todismissunder Federal Rules of Civil Procedure Rul2¢h)(1) and 12(b)(6) For the
reasons set forth below, the motigagdismiss(doc. nos. 9, 23, 28reGRANT ED.

|. Background

As alleged in the complain@campoentered intdwo mortgage loans dwo separate
properties (the Properties”) On September 30, 2005, Ocampo execatedteand mortgage
with Countrywide Home Loans, Inc., whickevesecured by the property ied atl00 Old
Kings Highway, North, Darien, CT 0682thé€“Old Kings HighwayProperty). SeeCompl.,
Doc. 1,atf 2. On May 31, 2000Dcampoexecuted a notend mortgage, whicWweresecured by

the property located at 2 Geneva Road, Norwalk, CT 06880 Geneva Property. Id. at{ 3.
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Ocampoprincipally alleges that Defendants “fraudulently misrepresented the Value of the
subject property(s) and misrepresented the Loan to Fair Market Value Raiibupas a false
and inflated appraisal overstatingthroperty value . . " .Seed. at{ 5.

Ocampoasserts violations of the Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organizations Act
(“RICQO”), 18 U.S.C. 88 1962(a) and 1964(c), on the basis of “mortgage frsid&llas“fraud
in the factuni’ Seed. at{1116-21. Along with compensation fdamagesndattorneys’ fees
Ocamparequestsvacaturof final foreclosure judgments, dischargdisfpendensSatisfaction
of Mortgage,” and cancellation of the promissoryasotd. at49. He further requests a
“permanent injunction against all Defendant(s), Successors, Assigns and wherity to
enforce a claim or judgment that has been fraudulently pro¢uted

Although not alleged in the complaintwlil take judicial notice of the following court
proceedings, whichreestablishedby publicly-available court records On October 3, 2016, the
Superior Court for the Judicial District of Stamford entered a Judgment cif Rireclosure on
the Geneva PropertyNationstar Mortg. ILC v. Ocampp2016 Conn. Super. LEXIS 4946, at *1
(Super. CtOct. 3, 201§. On June 4, 2018, tiauperior Court for the Judicial District of
Stamford entered a Judgment of Strict Foreclosure oBlth&ings HighwayProperty See
Bank of New York Mellon f/k/a Bank of New York as Tr. v. Ocaghpb, NO.
FSTCV146021995-S (Super. Ct. June 4, 2018).

Il. Standard of Review

a) Rule 12(b)(1)

“A case is properly dismissed for lack of subject matter jurisdiction under R2id)(1)

Luat the pleadingstage, courts may take judicial notice of matters of public record sytbaalings andrders in
another action.”See Bailey v. Interbay Funding, L1 2018 WL 1660553, at *2 n.2 (D. Conn. Apr. 4, 2p18
(internal citatons omitted).



when the district court lacks the statutory or constitutional power to adjudicaldakarova v.
United States201 F.3d 110, 113 (2d Cir. 2000). A party that moves to dismiss for lack of
subject matter jurisdiction “may refer to evidence outigepleadings.”ld. (quotingKamen v.
American Tel. & Tel. Co.791 F.2d 1006, 1011 (2d Cir. 1986)).

b) Rule 12(b)(6)

A motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil
Procedure Rule 12(b)(6) is designed “merely to askedegal feasibility of a complaint, not to
assay the weight of evidence which might be offered in support thef@géiér Energy
Distribution Corp. v. Merrill Lynch Commodities, In@48 F.2d 774, 779 (2d Cir. 1984)
(quotingGeisler v. Petrocelli616 F.2d 636, 639 (2d Cir. 1980)).

When deciding a motion to dismiss pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6), the court must accept the
material facts alleged in the complaint as true, draw all reasonable inferefeesr iof the
plaintiffs, and decide whether it is plablg that plaintiffs have a valid claim for relieAshcroft
v. Igbal 556 U.S. 662, 678—79 (200®ell Atl. Corp. v. Twomb|\650 U.S. 544, 555-56 (2007);
Leeds v. Meltz85 F.3d 51, 53 (2d Cir. 1996).

UnderTwombly “[flactual allegations must be endutp raise a right to relief above the
speculative level,” and assert a cause of action with enough heft to show entitiematief and
“enough facts to state a claim to relief that is plausible on its face.” 550 U.S. at 558¢&als0
Igbal, 556 U.S. at 679 (“While legal conclusions can provide the framework of a complaint, they
must be supported by factual allegations.”). The plausibility standard set foslomblyand
Igbal obligates the plaintiff to “provide the grounds of his entitlement to relief” through more
than “labels and conclusions, and a formulaic recitation of the elements of ataasen.”

Twombly 550 U.S. at 555rfternalquotation marks omitted). Plausibility at the pleading stage



is nonetheless distinct from probabilignd “a weltpleaded complaint may proceed even if it
strikes a savvy judge that actual proof of [the claims] is improbable, and . . . recoweny is
remote and unlikely.”ld. at 556 (nternal quotation marks omitted).

[1l. Discussion

a) RookerFeldmanDoctrine

Under theRookerFeldmandoctrine federal district courts dck jurisdiction over cases
that essentially amount to appeals of state court judgmevitssbrinck v. Accredited Home
Lenders, Ing 773 F.3d 423, 426 (2d Cir. 201@ternal citations omied). The prohibitions on
federal district court review of state court judgments undeRtukerFeldmandoctrine extend
toissues that are “inextricably intertwined” with such earlier state counngie@ions. Rooker
Feldmanchallenges may be brought by either partgua spontédy the court.Moccio v. New
York State Office of Court Admi®5 F.3d 195, 198 (2d Cir. 1996) (internal citations omitted).
The elements of thdoctrine are as follows:

(1) the plaintiff lost in state court;

(2) the plaintiff @mplains of injuries caused by the state court judgment;

(3) the plaintiff invites district court review of that judgment; and

(4) the state court judgment was entered before the plaintiff's federal suit

commenced.
Vossbrinck773 F.3d at 42@nternal citatons and quotation marks omitted).

All four factorsof theRookerFeldmendoctrine are presentith respecto Ocamm’s
claims concerninghe Old Kings Highway PropertyThefirst and fourth elements actearly
satisfied. The Superior Court rendered an adverse judgment of foreclosure on the Old Kings
Highway Propertyon June 4, 2018; more than nine months bedma&mpo filed his current
lawsuit. SeeBank of New York Mellon f/k/a Bank of New York as Tr. v. Ocashjpd, NoO.
FSTCV146021995-S, (Super. Ct. June 3, 20C8mpl., p. 49. The secomtement$

established becausiEampocomplains of injuries he suffered asesult of the state court’s
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judgment of foreclosureSee, e.g., id] 119(“[Ocampo] has suffered injury from the duplicitous
inducement of the subject properties of this Complaint from the loss of equity.. Redarding
the third element, Ocampeeksan order from the federal district court to overturn the
Connecticut state court’s foreclosure on bathperties Seee.g., id (“Wherefore [Ocampo] . .
demands judgment against the Defendant(s), and each of them, for actual, consequentia
compensatory, and potential damages, together witbattegurof final foreclosure

judgments.j. Additionally, Ocampo requestiat I (1) holdthat the mortgages have been
satisfied,(2) cancel the promissory notes, g3l permanently enjoithe Defendants from
attemptingto enforce another claim or judgmegainst him.ld.

Similarly, all four factors are present regarding the GeRawperty The first and fourth
elements are clearly mehefinal judgment of foreclosure ahe Genevdropertywas entered
on October 32016, and the instant suit was filed on March 25, 2@e&e0Ocampo 2016 Conn.
Super. LEXIS 4946, at *1; Compl., p. 49. As noted abthesecond element is met because
Ocampocomplains ofnjuries that were thdirect result of the state court'sdgment of Strict
Foreclosure.Finally, the third element isstablished because Ocampo retbsit |vacate the
Conneticut state court’soreclosure on the Geneva Proper8eeCompl., at 49.

The Second Circuit has “consistently held that any attack on a [state court] judgment of
foreclosure is clearly barred by tReokerFeldmandoctrine.” Gonzalez v. Ocwen Home Loan
Servicing 74 F. Supp. 3d 504, 514 (D. Conn. 20HHjd sub nom. Gonzalez v. Deutsche Bank
Nat. Tr. Co, 632 F. App’x 32 (2d Cir. 2016)Having “lost in the [stateour{ foreclosure
action,” Ocampdmay not now rditigate the validity of the foreokure in federal court.1d. at

517-18.



To the extenDcampaalleges that théoreclosure judgmerresulted from fraudRooker-
Feldmanstill bars his federal claimsSee Astoria Fed. Sav. & Loan Ass’n v. Arcam@04 2
WL 4355550, at *2 (D. Conn. Sept. 18, 2012) (“Even where a plaintiff alleges that a state court
judgment was procured by fraudpoker+eldmanwill divest the federal court of jurisdictioi
(internal citations omitted)Thus, “even if the state court judgment was wrongly procured, it is
effective and conclusive until it is modified or reversed in the appro@iate appellate or
collateral proceeding.’Simpson v. Putnam County Nat'| Bank of Carf2élF. Supp. 2d 630,
633 (S.D.N.Y. 1998)ifternalcitations omitted).

For the foregoingeasons, Ocampo’s allegations with respect tadtideKings Highway
Propertyand theGeneva Propertgire a direct invitation for me to review a final state court
judgment with which he disagreek Nelsonv. Countrywide Home Loans, In2019 U.S. Dist.
LEXIS 168299, at *8 (D. Conn. Sept. 30, 2019), | held thaRbeke+Feldmendoctrine barred
me from exercising subject matter jurisdictimm facts similar to those alleged hete
accordance with my holding Melson | hereby dismiss Ocampoiaimsagainst the Moving
Defendantsegarding both subject properties lack of subject matter jurisdictior5ee2019
U.S. Dist. at'8.

b) Statute of Limitations

I RICOClaims
In this matter, the@laintiff has allegedubstantive violations of two substantive RICO
provisions:Sed¢ions 1964(c) and 1962(a). Compl.f§tLl16—-19.1 need not address the merits
of those claims because Ocampo’s RICO claims arehismed. RICO claims are subject to a
four-year statute dimitations Koch v. Christie’s Intern. PL(699 F.3d 141, 148 (2d Cir. 2012),

and the statute of limitations “begins to run when the plaintiff discovers—or shoutthabhs



have discovered—the alleged injuryMcLaughlin v. Am. Tobacco C&22 F.3d 215, 233 (2d
Cir. 2008). In determining whether a plaintiff should reasonably have discovered tlgethgur
Second Circuit asks “whether a reasonable [person] of ordinary intelligendd have
discovered the existence of the fraudNino v. Countrywide Home Loans, In2019 WL
1320282, at *3 (D. Conn. Mar. 22, 2018¢onsideration denie®019 WL 2357565 (D. Conn.
June 4, 2019jinternal citations omitted).

Ocampoarguesthat he “learned of the facts about the misreprasient of the Appraisal
of both Roperties after doing some researchulibe subject matter of thecomplaint on
December8, 2018,” and therefore brought this suit within the applicableyear-statute of
limitations. Comp].at 1 3839. Areasonable persphowever, would have discovered such a
misrepresentatioat aconsiderablyearliertime. SeeNino, WL 1320282, at *3.TheNino court
addressed analogous facts and argumeraseparatsuit broughtiagainsthe Moving
Defendantsand othersld. at *3. In that casethe plaintiffassertedgimilar RICO and
Connecicut fraudclaimsagainst the lenders dhree mortgagethatshe executetietween 2004
and 2007or “misrepresent[ingthe value and the loai-fair-marketvalue ratio” of the
Properties.ld. at*2. Thecourt granted the defendahinotion to dismissgoncludingthat allof
theclaimsweretime-barred. Id. at *3—4. In so holding, the court observed thajry
manipulation of the loate-fair-marketvalue ratios of each of thedperties could and should
have been discovered by a reasonably diligarthmser of ordinary intelligence at the time the
mortgages were executedd. at *3.

Like the plaintiffin Nino, Ocampaoallegesthat Defendantmisrepresented the valoé
the Properties, as well #se Properties’loanto-fair-marketvalue ratio when his mortgages

were executedSeeCompl.,at{ 91. Ocampoexecuted the mortgader the Old Kings Highway



Property on September 30, 2005 and the mortgage f@ahevaPropertyon May 31, 2007.d.
atf12-3. A reasonably diligent purchaser wotlldrefore hav@entified amisrepresetation
of the Ropertiesat that time.BecauséOcampdfiled the instant complaint ddarch 25 2019,
over a decade later, | concluittat his claimdar-exceed the fouyear statute of limitations and,
thus,are timebarred

Even under a more expansive view of widmamposhould have discovered the injury,
Ocampo’s claims arstill time-barred The injury pleaded by Ocampo allegedly began with the
collapse of the Housing Bubble and the resultant Mortgage Crisis. Caifph9. Like the
plaintiff in Nino, Ocampaoadmitsin his complainthat he became awapé “the Housing Bubble
and its collapse” betweet005 and 2011, and of the “thousands of foreclosure cases clogging the
Courts”betweer2008and2011. Nino, 2019 WL 1320282, at *4; Compét 11 57-58. Ocampo
alsoassertghatthe“Public atLarge” receivedstorm warnings” of lending fraud through the
“Financial Crisis Inquiry Commission Report from Congress” in 2010 and through “the
testimony [of] William K. Blackbefore the House Financial Services Committee” in 2011.
Compl.,at 7 &, 65. As theNino court concludeavith respect to the plaintifh that casge
Ocampaoshould have become awareanfy harmarising from Defendants’ allegedly fraudulent
conduct at théime that he became aware of th®rtgage Crisis, which would have given rise to
plaintiff's alleged injury Nino, 2019 WL 1320282, at *4. Accordingl@camposhould have
discoveredaninjury by 2011 at the latest.

Moreover, to the extef@dcampaalleges thatthe cantinuing violations doctrine exempts
his RICO claims from the statute of limitations, tlaagjument fails because ttlectrine does not
apply to RICO actionsSee §ho v. Countrywide Home Loans, In2019 WL 2357565, at *2

(D. Conn. June 4, 2019) (internal quotation marks and citations omiRadfer RICO claims



are“subject to a rule of separate accruadd’ (internal quotation marks and citations omitted).
A plaintiff asserting a RICO cause of actltwas a right to sue, even after the statute of
limitations has run as to the underlyiragketeeringctivity, when a ‘new and independent
injury is incurred from the same [RICO] violatioh.ld. (internal citations omitted). “Ainjury
is not independent of the alleged underlying RKG@ation where it is caused in material part
by the original fraud.”ld. (internal citations omitted).

In Nino, following the court’s dismissal ahe RICO claims, the plaintiff filecd motion
for reconsideratioand raised similar argumerttsthose raised by Ocampo in the instant action.
SeeNino, 2019 WL 2357565, at *1. The court denied the motion, holding that theéaur-
statute of limitations still applied because the plaimi#é “not alleged any injury independent of
the underlying alleged RICO violationld. at *2. Herealsq the injuries alleged in Ocampo’s
complaint do not appear distifiebm theallegedunderlying RICO violations — namely, the
misrepresentation dhe Propertiesvaluesandof the Propertiedoanto-value ratios. For those
reasons| concludethat the fouryear statute of limitations appliestinis case and, thus,
Ocampo’s RICO claims against thoving Defendantsre timebarred.

il. Fraud Claims

Fraud claims are subject to a thygsar statute of limitations in Conctecut SeeConn.
Gen. Stat. § 52-57(7 No action founded upon a tort shall be brought but within three years from
the date othe act or omission complainedf The statute of limitations for those claims
begins “with the date of the act or omission complained Nfrio, 2019 WL 1320282, at *4
(internal citations omitted)-Ignorance ofithe plaintiff's] rights . . . will not suspend its

operation.” Id. (internal citationsand alteratioromitted)



Here, the mortgages were executed on Septembh@088 and May 31, 200 Because
Ocampdfiled his current complaint on March 25, 2019, he has not met theythaezestatute of
limitations. Ocampo argues that the continuing violations doctrine removes hiscfeanns
from thestatuteof limitations Compl., at § 91TheNino courtaddressed the same argument
under analogousircumstanceand ultimately concludeas | do herehat it was without meri#
In its decision denying reconsideratiadhg Nino courtheldthat the continuing violations
doctrine did not apply to the plaintiff's analogous Connecticut fraud claims bebta&use
complaint “fail[ed] to allege facts sufficient to raise an inference of a congraourse of
conduct.” See Ninp2019 WL 2357565, at *2.

Here,like Nino, Ocampds Conneticut fraud claimsaregrounded irDefendants’ alleged
misrepresentations of the value of the Propewtiesn the mortgages were executed, as well as
the failure to “provide Value to attach to [OcargjaMortgage and Promissory NdteCompl.,
1172, 120. Thecomplaint fails tcallegeany wrongful actionsommittedby Defendantafter
the initial execution of the mortgages in 2005 and 2007, respectively. Thusnip&int fails
to allege ongoing miscondutttatwould constitute a continuing cagof conduct that could
remove Ocampo’s claims from the thigear statute of limitations for fraud.

For those reasons, | conclude taktof Ocampds claimsagainst théMoving Defendants
—the RICO claims and the fraud claimare timebarred.

C) Anti-Injunction Act

To the extent that Ocampo seéfjsinctive relief against the Connecticut statarto
foreclosure judgments, the complaint is denied pursuant to the Anti-Injunction Act. The Anti

Injunction Act provides,[a] court of the United States may not grant an injunction to stay

2“While section 52577 generally bars claims brought three years after the tortious conduct dcguiren the
wrong sued upon consists of a continuing course of conduct, the statute does not begin tothan cmtitse of
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proceedings of a State court except as expressly authorized by Act of Congresseor wher
necessary in aid of its jurisdiction, or to protect or effectuate its judgments.” 28.18.3283.
Courts in the Second Circuit have repeatedly held that, absent a showing by the piatraifiet
of those exceptions applies, the Anti-Injunction Act bars federal courts from egjai@ite court
foreclosure and eviction proceedingdee Markey v. Ditech Fin. LL.2016 U.S. DistLEXIS
129511, at *12 (D. Conn. Sept. 22, 2016).

Ocampo requests a “permanent injunction against all Defendant(s), Successignss A
and Agents who try to enforce a claim or judgment that has been fraudulently procured . . . .”
Compl.,at49. To the extent that this paragraph pertains to any state court judgment with regard
to the foreclosures of the Properties, the complaint is dismissed.

d) Failureto State a Claim

Finally, Ocampds RICO and fraudillegationswith respect taoththe Genevdroperty
and the Old Kings Highwakropertyfail to state a clainmpon which relief can be grantedio
state avalid RICO claim, a plaintiff must satisfy twourdens. First, the plaintifmust allege
that the defendant has violated the substantive RICO statdtess v. Morgan Stanley In&19
F.2d 5, 17 (2d Cir. 1983) (citing 18 U.S.C. § 1962). To that é&edplaintiff must first allege
the following seven elements: “(1) that the defendant (2) through the commission of twaor mor
acts (3) constituting a giterri (4) of ‘racketeering activity(5) directly or indirectly invests in,
or maintains an interest in, or participates in (6)ererprisé(7) the activities of which affect
interstate or foreign commerceld. Second, the plaintiff must afie thathe was “injured in his
business or property by reason of a violation of section 1962 (titing 18U.S.C. § 1962)

(alteration removed)

conduct icompleted.” Nino, 2019 WL 235765, at *2 (internal citations omitted).
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Ocampo’s omplaint alleges violations of two substantive RICO provisions. Coatpl.,
11116-21. Howeverhe @mplaint does not plead those alleged violations with the régjuisi
particularity to defeat the &@endants’ Motions to DismisBecausé®campds RICO claims are
grounded in fraud, they must be pleaded with particularity ureléeral Rule of Civil Prcedure
9(b). Moore v. PaineWebber, Inc189 F.3d 165, 172 (2d Cir. 1999)€deral Rule of Civil
Procedure 9(bdtates that in avermentsfoéud, the circumstances constitutifrgud. . .shall
be stated with particularity.This provision appksto RICO claimsfor whichfraudis the
predicate illegal act.”) Therefore under Rule 9(b)Dcampomust“specify the statemenfbe]
claims were false or misleading, give particulars as to the respect in wejdofttends] the
statements were fraudulent, state when and where the statements were madetifgritiaden
responsible for the statementdd. at 173. Ocampaomust also “allege facts that give rise to a
strong inference of fraudulent intentld. (internal citations and quotation marksitted) A
complaint “full of conclusory and speculative allegations pertaining to the allegehlifeat
scheme” does not satisfy the heightened pleading standard set forth in Rulee&®iurtis v.
Law Officesof Bushman443 F. App’x 582, 585 (2d Cir. 2011). Finally, whenaultiple
defendants are asked to respond to allegations of fraud, the complaint should inform each
defendant of the nature of his alleged participation in the fraDd/ittorio v. Equidyne
Extractive Indus., In¢ 822 F.2d 1242, 1247 (2d Cir. 198ifjternal citations omitted)

Here,the complaintdoes notdentify anyparticularfalse or misleadingtatementsnade
by the original lenders, Countrywide Home Loans and American Home Mortgadkeer,
Ocampooffersonly unfounded legal conclusions regarding Defendants’ alleged commission of
“Mortgage fraud, with the intent to defraud . . . .” Comaliy 8. Ocampo arguethat

Defendantsfraudulently misrepresented the Value of the subject propeftysisrepresented
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the Loanto Fair Market Value Ratibased upon a false and inflated appraisal overstating the
property valu¢ and “engage@nd benefitted from a corrupt enterprise to defraud homeowners.”
SeeCompl.,at 15, 118.

Ocamporelies on the notion théte Moving Defendants misrepresented the value of the
Properties at the timbe signed the Loan and Mortgage documents. Copaiffl.77. Ocampo’s
only factual supporfor that assertion is that thedperties were appraised at values that did not
comport withtheMoving Defendants’ alleged representatioit. atf{78-80. However, the
information in the omplaintwith regard tahe Moving Defendants’ alleged misrepresentations
pertain to properties unrelated to this suih the absence of any facts to suggesitwine
Moving Defendants represented the subject properties to be worth, Ocatlggaisans
regarding the Pperties’ appraised value are of no consequeltiteat] 78. Therefore, even
when viewing the allegations in a light most favorable to Ocampaotmglaint fails on its face.

Even if the complaint was not defective on its faceiould still fail because itloes not
describe who exactlyisrepresented the appraisal or market vatdidise Properties. Further,
theallegationsdo not give rise to a “strong inference of fraudulent intemdore, 189 F.3d at
173. Ocampodoes not allege “facts and circumstaniteg would support an inference” that
Countrywide Home Loan%new of specific facts that were contrary to” their representations.
Rombach v. Chan@55 F.3d 164, 176 (2d Cir. 2004). Rather, the complaint setdlierth
conclusory allegation that Defendants “knew or should have known that these reparsentati
were fals¢ Compl.,at] 72. Ocampohas therefore failed to statelaim with respect to his

RICO allegations. Because Ocamysesthose same facts with respect to his separate fraud

3 Ocampo alleges, “Defendant(s) Original Lender 1 & 2 represented the Valuesabjeet property(s). .as
$215,000.00 and $236,000 for the properfgis] located at 444 Bedford Avenue, Stamford, CT 06901 and
$900,000.0d0r the property’gsic] located at 25 Alexander Street, Greenwich, CT 06831 respectively.” Compl.,
Doc. 1, at § 77.
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claims, those claims are also barred for the same reasons.

Finally, Ocampaalsoalleges that Countrywide Home Loans and American Brokers
Conduit unlawfully transferred the “equitable interests of Plaintiff's propectythers without
providing Ocampad*any money to fund the fraudulently induced” lodd. at f $—-102.
Drawing all inferences in favor @campg| find thatthose conclusory allegations, tdail to
state claims upon which relief can be grantedydo not “raise a right to reliefbove the
speculative level.”Bell Atl. Corp, 550 U.Sat555. Accordingly,all of Ocampds counts
against thvloving Defendantsre dismisse for failure to state a claim.

For the foregoing reasons, all of Ocampo’s counts agdiedMoving Defendants are

dismissed"

V. Conclusion

For the reasons stated abotes Moving Defendants’ Motiongo Dismiss(doc. nos. 9,
23, and 2pareGRANTED. The Clerk is directed to enter judgment for the Defendants and
close the case.
It is so ordered.
Dated at Bridgeport, Connecticut, this 31st daivlafch 2020.
/s/ Stefan R. Underhill

Stefan R. Underhill
United States District Judge

4 Because@campos claims are barred for the reasons stated above, | do nadglibe Moving Defendants
remainingarguments in support of dismissal.
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